
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

________________________________
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,   Criminal No. 12-CR-569 (DNH)
                                

v.

WILLIAM ROGER JOCK and                  GOVERNMENT’S OPPOSITION TO 
THOMAS ANGUS SQUARE, MOTION TO DISMISS
                                

Defendants.       
________________________________

Comes now, the United States of America, by RICHARD S. HARTUNIAN, United States

Attorney for the Northern District of New York, through Elizabeth Horsman, Assistant United States

Attorney, of counsel, and files this opposition to defendants William Roger Jock and Thomas Angus

Square’s Motion to Dismiss.

I. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

On December 12, 2012, a federal grand jury returned an Indictment against James Gray,

William Roger Jock, Thomas Angus Square, Anthony Laughing, Sr., and Joseph Hight charging

them with operation of an illegal gambling business, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1955, 2 and

transporting, possessing, and using gambling devices within Indian Country, in violation of 15

U.S.C. §§1175(a) and 1176, and 18 U.S.C. §2.  On December 18, 2012, following their initial

appearances, defendants Jock and Laughing were both released on bond.  Defendant Square remains

detained.  On January 11, 2013, following his initial appearance, defendant Hight was released on

bond.  Defendant Gray is a fugitive.

On January 15, 2013, defendants Jock and Square filed a motion to dismiss the indictment. 

Although the motion states that Gray is also a party to the motion, for the reasons discussed below,
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he is not able to do so because he is a fugitive who has not yet appeared before the Court.  Neither

of the other defendants, Laughing and Hight, have joined in the motion; their motions are now due

by April 1, 2013.  Dkt. ## 39-40.

II. BACKGROUND REGARDING THE ST. REGIS-MOHAWK TRIBE AND
DEFENDANTS

The Saint Regis Mohawk Tribe (hereinafter “the Tribe”) is the only federally-recognized

Tribal government on the Saint Regis Mohawk Reservation.   Its Tribal Council is comprised of

three Chiefs, three Sub-Chiefs, and a Tribal  Clerk.  

Defendants Jock and Square do not allege in their motion that they are members of the Tribe

or of the governing Council of the Tribe.  They claim that they are members of the Kanienkehaka

Kaianerehkowa Kanonhsesne Longhouse (“KKK Longhouse”),  a/k/a the “People to the Great Way

Longhouse.”  The KKK Longhouse is an assembly of Mohawk persons on the Saint Regis Mohawk

Reservation.  Although defendants describe it as a traditional government entity, it has no power to

make and enforce laws on the Reservation, to collect taxes, or to enter into a government-to-

government negotiations with the governments of the United States or the State of New York.  

Defendants Jock and Square alternately use their Mohawk names in public and legal matters. 

In court filings in this case, the defendants have acknowledged their Mohawk names and admitted

their moniker as the “Men’s Council,” and defense counsel has provided the same for fugitive James

Gray, Sr. (ECF Doc. 37).

Name in Indictment Mohawk Name

William Roger Jock Kanerahtiio

Thomas Angus “Salt” Square Rarahkewasare

James Gray, Sr. Sakoieta

2
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II. BACKGROUND REGARDING GAMING

The gambling industry in the United States is highly regulated both on and off Indian lands. 

Every state that allows gambling of some kind has a regulatory board or commission.  In New York,

for example, the regulatory agency is the New York State Racing and Wagering Board.  

On October 17, 1988, the United States Congress enacted the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act

(IGRA) establishing the framework for regulating gaming on Indian lands.  25 U.S.C. §2701 et seq.

IGRA established the National Indian Gaming Commission (NIGC) as the federal regulatory body

responsible for implementing and enforcing IGRA.  25 U.S.C. §§2703-2704.  The congressionally-

declared purposes of IGRA include the promotion of tribal economic development and

self-sufficiency; to shield the tribes from the influences of organized crime to ensure the Indian tribe

is the primary beneficiary of the gambling operation; and to declare that the establishment of

independent federal regulatory authority and federal standards are necessary to meet congressional

concerns regarding gaming and generation of tribal revenue.  25 U.S.C. §2702.  Only Indian tribal

governments that are recognized by the United States Department of the Interior, Bureau of Indian

Affairs (BIA), may engage in or regulate gambling on Indian lands recognized by the Department

of the Interior according to IGRA and NIGC regulations.  Congress has also mandated that Indian

gambling revenue be used for specific community purposes.  A list of the tribal governments

authorized as such is listed in the Federal Register and on the NIGC website.    The Saint Regis1

 http://www.nigc.gov/Portals/0/NIGC%20Uploads/readingroom/listandlocationoftribalgamingops/1

abc.pdf (list organized by names of tribes); http://www.nigc.gov/Portals/0/NIGC%20Uploads/reading
room/listandlocationoftribalgamingops/state.pdf (list organized by state in which the tribe is located). 

3
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Mohawk Tribe is the federally-recognized tribe in Akwesasne/Hogansburg, New York.  The Tribe

has published its uses of the proceeds of its gambling operations on its lands.2

To enable gaming on the Saint Regis Mohawk Reservation, the Tribe and the State of New

York in 1993 entered into a compact known as the "Tribal-State Compact" (hereinafter “the

Compact.")  The Compact allows for the Tribe to engage in gambling activities within its lands

subject to a federally-approved Tribal gambling ordinance, and federal and state oversight.  The

Secretary of the Interior also approved the Tribal-State Compact and its amendments in 1999.   As3

a result of the Compact, New York amended its gambling laws to allow gambling by the Tribe in

Indian Country consistent with the tribal-state compact and federal regulation. 

The Tribe enacted a gaming ordinance (hereinafter “Tribal Gaming Ordinance”) which

regulates gambling and gaming on tribal lands.  The NIGC Chairman approved the Tribal Gaming

Ordinance in 1994 and amendments since 1994. 

The Tribe regulates gambling on its lands through the Saint Regis Mohawk Tribe Gaming

Commission ("Tribal Gaming Commission").  Under the Tribal Gaming Ordinance in effect at all

times during this investigation: (a) Class II and Class III  gaming are lawful only if operated by the4

Tribe as a Tribal enterprise or by any person or entity that is authorized by the Tribe.  Article IV, and

  In 2011, the Tribe published a booklet available for download on its website, “How Gaming2

Benefits Our Community.”  http://www.srmt-nsn.gov/_uploads/site_files/ BenefitsOfGaming11_web.pdf. 

From 2003 to 2010, the Akwesasne Mohawk Gaming enterprises generated over $79 million to the Saint

Regis Mohawk Tribe to “help build the Akwesasne Community through self-reliance.”  The booklet details

Tribal programs and services, and community partnership program to help charitable causes.

 h t t p : / / www . n i gc . go v / P o r t a l s /0 / NIGC% 20Upl oads / r ead i ngr oom/ compac t s3

/St.%20Regis%20Mohawk%20Tribe/stregiscomp120493.pdf.

 Although not relevant to the motion or the alleged criminality, there are three classes of gambling4

under the IGRA: Classes I, II and III. 

4
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(b) the Tribe has sole proprietary ownership of and responsibility for the conduct of any gaming

operation authorized by the ordinance.  Article V.

Only the Tribe’s Akwesasne Mohawk Casino and Mohawk Bingo Palace are authorized and

regulated gambling locations. See, Federal Register http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2009-06-

23/pdf/E9-14655.pdf.

IV. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

The charges relate to the operation of an illegal gambling business named Three Feathers

Casino which opened in July 2011 with approximately 455 slot-machine style electronic gambling

devices at 437 State Route 11, Hogansburg/Akwesasne, New York.  It is the same building and

location as "Tony's Vegas International Casino" subject of previous gambling litigation and criminal

convictions, including that of defendant Anthony Laughing, Sr.  United States v. Cook, 922 F.2d

1026 (2d Cir. 1991).  The 55,000 square foot building is on a 10-acre tract of undisputed tribal lands.

The location is not subject to land claim litigation in which the United States through the U.S.

Department of Justice has intervened as a plaintiff alongside the Tribe.5

The defendants as individuals and under the moniker the “Men’s Council” have publicized

their affiliation to the Three Feathers Casino gambling operation.  They have consistently sought and

declared in the media that they are not subject to federal, tribal and state laws, including gambling,

tax and currency reporting laws.  (Exhibit 1, seven separate media reports).   This is consistent with6

 St. Regis Mohawk v. State of New York, 82-cv-783 (N.D.N.Y.).  As set forth more fully in the5

government's briefs in that case, the pending lawsuit regards, inter alia, whether certain lands in the
Hogansburg Triangle were unlawfully acquired in violation of the Indian Trade and Intercourse Act, 25
U.S.C. § 177.  The United States contends it is not aware of any evidence that Congress has altered the
original Reservation boundaries.

 In the July 27, 2011, article published in Kahnawake News, James Gray, Sr. [“Sakoieta”] and6

“Men’s Council spokesman” Chaz [Charles] Kader are directly quoted.  In the August 7, 2011, article

5
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a large billboard on the Reservation’s main highway advertising Three Feathers Casino and “Tax

Free Winnings,” first observed by federal agents on July 20, 2012.  (Exhibit 2).  The defendants have

not obtained authority to operate the business from the Tribe, New York State, or the United States.

On January 20, 2012, the Tribe through its Gaming Commission attempted to end illegal

operations at Three Feathers Casino by issuing and serving Cease and Desist Orders on several

people including defendants Jock and Square.  The Tribe also published a press release on its website

announcing that the Cease and Desist Orders has been issued and served.  (Exhibit 3).  This followed

at least 3 notices placed by Tribal leadership on the Tribe’s official website declaring that gambling

at the location was illegal.

IV. ARGUMENT

Jock and Square rely on two theories for their motion to dismiss.  First, they contend that the

indictment lacks sufficient detail about the location of the gambling operation and the type of gaming

machines.  But no such evidentiary detail is required.  Second, relying on historical and public

international law documents (appended as Docs. 32-3 through 32-13), they ask this Court to

disregard established Supreme Court precedent and other established principles.

published in the Wall Street Journal, Men's Council spokesman Kader acknowledged that electronic
gambling devices were in play at Three Feathers Casino, with no federal, tribal or state approvals.  In the
January 26, 2012, article in the Watertown Daily Times, defendant Square [“Rarahkewasare”] is quoted: “We
are not part of the government over there.  They have no control over us.  We are not tribal members.”  In
the February 2, 2012, article published online in the Indian Country Today Media Network (reprinted on
www.Native Strength.com), James Gray, Sr. [“Sakoieta”], and defendants Jock [“Kanerahtiio”], and Square
“Rarahkewasare” provided the reporter a written "Commentary" dated January 31, 2012, in which they
“defiantly rejected" the elected government's authority.  In the February 2, 2012, article in the Standard
Freeholder, James Gray, Sr. [“Sakoieta”] is again quoted.  The May 14, 2012, article in the Albany Times
Union,  about Indian gambling, contained a photograph of defendant Square standing in front of a “slot
machine at Three Feathers Casino on April 24, 2012.”  In the December 19, 2012, article in the Press
Republican, defendant Jock is quoted.

6
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A. Relevant Law

A defendant moving to dismiss an indictment “must meet a high standard.”  United States

v. Lazore, 90 F. Supp. 2d 202, 203 (N.D.N.Y. 2000).  In the Second Circuit, “[i]t is well settled that

‘an indictment is sufficient if it, first, contains the elements of the offense charged and fairly informs

a defendant of the charge against which he must defend, and, second, enables him to plead an

acquittal or conviction in bar of future prosecutions for the same offense.’  Hamling v. United States,

418 U.S. 87, 117 (1974).”  United States v. Alfonso, 143 F.3d 772, 776 (2d Cir. 1998).  Although “an

indictment must charge a crime with sufficient precision to inform the defendant of the charges he

must meet and with enough detail that he may plead double jeopardy in a future prosecution based

on the same set of events. . . an indictment need do little more than to track the language of the

statute charged and state the time and place (in approximate terms) of the alleged crime.”  Id.

(internal citation and quotations omitted).  United States v. Walsh, 199 F.3d 37, 44 (2d Cir. 1999). 

A defendant is “entitled to a short, concise statement of facts constituting the offense charged,

but he is not entitled to know the evidentiary details with which the government intends to convict

him.”  United States v. Cerone, 830 F.2d 938, 951 (8th Cir. 1987) (indictment charging that

defendant traveled in interstate commerce with intent to promote illegal activity need not specify

particular acts that defendant did in furtherance of illegal activity); United States v. Weiss, 491 F.2d

460, 466 (2d Cir. 1974) (unnecessary to allege more specifically than failure to produce documents

conduct by which defendants corruptly endeavored to obstruct justice); United States v. Musacchio,

968 F.2d 782, 787 (9th Cir. 1991) (government not required to “list supporting evidence” in

indictment); United States v. Moody, 923 F.2d 341, 351 (5th Cir. 1991) (indictment need not set out

“evidentiary details”); United States v. Muskovsky, 863 F.2d 1319, 1326-27 (7th Cir. 1988) (in

7
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Travel Act prosecution, no requirement that indictment “specifically identify” the “illegal acts the

[defendants] performed or facilitated following their use of interstate facilities”).

The government in this or any indictment does not make “a full proffer of the evidence it

intends to present at trial” and therefore, sufficiency of the evidence is not in issue here.  United

States v. Alfonso, 143 F.3d 772, 776 (2d Cir. 1998); and United States v. Elliott, 363 F. Supp. 2d 439,

450 (N.D.N.Y. 2005).  Rather, in assessing the sufficiency of an indictment, the court must “examine

the indictment as a whole, accept as true the facts alleged, and determine only whether the indictment

is valid on its face.”  United States v. Elliott, 363 F. Supp. 2d 439, 450 (N.D.N.Y. 2005).  In addition

to assuming that all facts in the indictment are true, the Court must “‘view all facts in the light most

favorable to the government.’” United States v. Rezko, 2007 WL 2904014, at *3 (N.D. Ill. 2007)

(quoting United States v. Yashir, 166 F.3d 873, 880 (7th Cir. 1999)).  “The defendant’s contrary

assertions of fact will not be considered.”  United States v. Von Barta, 635 F.2d 999, 1002 (2d Cir.

1980). 

 B. Defendant Gray is a Fugitive and Therefore is Not Able to Obtain Dismissal of
an Indictment.

As a fugitive, defendant Gray cannot obtain dismissal of the indictment.  See United States

v. Blanco, 861 F.2d 773, 780 (2d Cir. 1988) (“A true fugitive, . . . who is successfully resisting

government efforts to bring him into the jurisdiction, will not be able to obtain dismissal of an

indictment;”) and United States v. Schreiber, 535 F.Supp. 1359, 1363 (S.D.N.Y.1982).  “A person

can be said to be a fugitive when, while abroad, they learn that they are under indictment and make

no effort to return to the United States to face charges.” Blanco, 861 F.2d at 779 (citing Feinberg,

C.J., concurring, in United States v. Salzmann, 548 F.2d 395, 403 n. 2 (2d Cir.1976).  Here, Gray is

8
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clearly a fugitive who normally lives in the United States, but appears to have fled to Canada.  He

is not yet party to this litigation and thus not party to the defendants’ motion to dismiss.

C. Additional Evidentiary Detail About the Location of the Illegal Gambling
Business Is Not Required.

Defendants Jock and Square assert that Count 1 is facially insufficient because it does not

give the physical address of the identified alleged illegal gambling business, Three Feathers Casino,

and that Count 2 is also insufficient because it does not state precisely where in Indian Country the

alleged illegal gambling business is located.  Neither argument has any merit.

Counts 1 and 2 are sufficient because they track the statutory language and allege jurisdiction

in the Northern District of New York.  Count 1 also provides the name of the illegal gambling

business which defendants well know is located within the Tribe’s reservation.  The defendants fail

to coherently explain why the street address of Three Feathers Casino is critical for defending the

18 U.S.C. §1955 allegation, which has no Indian Country element, or to prevent double jeopardy.

No such evidentiary detail is necessary even in a bill of particulars.  See United States v.

Policki, 334 F. Supp. 1318, 1321 (S.D.N.Y. 1971) (denying motion for bill of particulars for places

of alleged conspiracy other than the Southern District of New York), accord, United States v.

Gambino, 809 F.Supp. 1061, 1071 (S.D.N.Y. 1992) (“the indictment contains sufficient detail

relating to this alleged narcotics enterprise, denying motion for bill of particulars).  The defendants

cite no factual basis or case law that supports dismissal of the Indictment on this basis.  In addition,

on the same day as defendants Jock and Square filed their motion to dismiss, the government

provided to the defendants the first 10,000 pages of discovery of approximately 10,700 pages of

discovery made to them to date.  An additional 5,000 pages is anticipated from the December 18,

2012, search warrant and analysis of seized computers.  (Doc. 8) (search warrant return noting 58

9
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boxes of miscellaneous records, paper and documents, six laptop computers, and a close circuit

monitoring system including a recording device and cameras seized at the premises of Three Feathers

Casino).7

Count 2 alleges that the offense occurred in Indian Country, and additional evidentiary detail

is not required.  The defendants ask the Court to revisit whether the Saint Regis Mohawk

Reservation is “Indian County” as defined in 18 U.S.C. §1151 based upon a dissent in the

longstanding precedent in United States v. Cook, 922 F.2d 1026 (2d Circ. 1991).  The government

advises the Court that it knows of no geographical or legal issue contesting the fact the alleged illegal

gambling business, the exact same building in Cook, is on undisputed Reservation lands.  The land

claim litigation is not relevant to this case.

D. Additional Evidentiary Detail Regarding the Type of “Gambling Device” is Also
Not Required.

Jock and Square also argue that the allegations regarding violations of state law contained

in Count 2 are insufficient.  Specifically, they complain that Count 2 states only that it involved

“gambling devices as defined in 15 U.S.C.§1171(a) and New York State Penal Law Section

225.00(7),” and does not specify the precise type of gambling device the government accuses them

of operating in violation of New York law.  Again, the Indictment is sufficient because it tracks the

statute. 

It is unnecessary to allege the specific type of gambling business.  See United States v.

Scafidi, 564 F.2d 633, 642 (2d Cir. 1977) (rejecting argument that failure to specify the type of

gambling business rendered indictment fatally defective where indictment tracked Section 1955 and

  The government has in writing invited all defense counsel to view any of the material seized7

while Federal and tribal investigators are processing and analyzing the material.

10
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specified approximate dates and relevant New York statutes).  It is also unnecessary to allege

precisely how any state statute was violated.   See United States v. Santarpo, 560 F.2d 448, 451 n.

1 (1st Cir. 1977) (rejecting argument that indictments were duplicitous and deprived defendants of

notice  “of what allegations they had to prepare to meet” where they alleged violations of state law

and each state law included “numerous separate state crimes”).  As a result, the indictment need not

name the specific type of “gambling device.

While the defendants assert that more detail is necessary to address the “playing phase” (the

gambling process) required by state statute, the Indictment alleges that an illegal business was

operated (requiring operating gambling devices) in substantially continuous operation for a period

in excess of thirty days and had a gross revenue of $2,000 or more on one or more single days.  A

plain reading of Count 1 in its entirety does not lead one to reasonably believe that the defendants

can be surprised in defending against a charge of operating an illegal gambling business, or that they

will unfairly be subject to double jeopardy.

The Indictment cites state criminal law predicate violations including New York State Penal

Law Section 225.30 (Possession of a gambling device) as defined in Section 225.00(7).  The

defendants state that without specific description of the gambling device, it could mean “slot

machines” and “‘slot machines’ may or may not be unlawful depending on the circumstances,” citing

Sections 225.30(a),(b), (c), and (d).  Doc. 32-1, page 15, lines 14-16.  The government does not,

however, allege that the gambling devices are “slot machines” defined separately under Section

225.00(8).  In addition, the defendants have alleged no facts that suggest that any “circumstance”

might permit them to possess and operate slot machines: they are not subject to New York municipal

law under subsection (a); they are not party to and operating under a gaming compact, duly executed

11
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by the governor and an Indian tribe or Nation, under the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act under

subsections (b) and (c); and they are not engaged in slot machine product development or research

for lawful transport to another state under subsection (d).

Defendants Jock and Square also seek support from two New York state cases analyzing the

form and factual sufficiency of a state misdemeanor charging instrument.  Neither is dispositive nor

even helpful to the defendants’ motion.  Both involve shell games or mahjong, not “gambling

devices,” and demonstrate the legal difference between a state misdemeanor charging instrument

(where an affidavit is submitted to support probable cause) and a federal indictment where, as here,

a federal grand jury has found probable cause.  

Focusing on the legal issue of the facial sufficiency of Count 1 of the Indictment, the

government incorporates by reference here its case law and argument cited above in Section A. 

Applying those principals to this defense argument, it is clear that the language of Count 1 in he

Indictment is sufficient.

E. The Federal Statutes Underlying Counts 1 and 2 are Crimes of General
Application, and Thus 18 U.S.C. §1153 and §1152 Do Not Limit Them in Indian
Country.

       
Jock and Square also argue, without any supporting case law, that the Indictment should be

dismissed because the gambling violations contained in Count 1 (18 U.S.C. §§1955 and 2) and

Count 2 (15 U.S.C.  §1175(a)) are not contained in the federal jurisdiction statutes of the Major

Crimes Act, 18 U.S.C.  §1153, and the Indian Country Crimes Act, 18 U.S.C.  §1152.  They are

wrong because the Indictment charges crimes of general application which apply to all people.

The limited list of offenses in the Indian Major Crimes Act, 18 U.S.C. §1153, has no bearing

on the prosecution of Indians in Indian Country for crimes of general applicability which apply to

12
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all persons, including persons in Indian Country.  18 U.S.C. §1152 (first paragraph).   United States8

v. Juvenile Male, 118 F.3d 1344, 1346 (9th Cir. 1997) (RICO applies to Indians in Indian Country);

United States v. Top Sky, 547 F.2d 483, 484 (9th Cir.1976) (Bald Eagle Protection Act, a law of

general applicability throughout the United States, applies to Indians even though conduct the Act

proscribes is not an enumerated offense under §1153); and United States v. Begay, 42 F.3d 486,

497–500 (9th Cir.1994) (18 U.S.C. §371 conspiracy applies in Indian County).

Similarly, 18 U.S.C. §1152 does not extend or restrict the application of general federal

criminal statutes to Indian reservations.  The statute applies to federal enclave laws and does not

encompass federal laws that make actions criminal wherever committed.  United States v. Blue, 722

F.2d 383, 385 (CA.N.D. 1983) (“18 U.S.C. §1152 is not a predicate for general federal criminal

jurisdiction in Indian country...section 1152 is limited to the applicability or nonapplicability of

federal enclave laws, those laws passed by the federal government in the exercise of its police

powers over federal property); Stone v. United States, 506 F.2d 561 (8th Cir.1974), cert. denied, 420

U.S. 978 (1975); United States v. White, 508 F.2d 453 (8th Cir.1974).

18 U.S.C. §1955 is a crime of general applicability.  United States v. Farris, 624 F.2d 890,

893–94 (9th Cir.1980) (holding that 18 U.S.C. §1955 and RICO apply to Indians' on-reservation

gambling activities); United States v. E.C. Investments, Inc., 77 F.3d 327, 331 (9th Cir.1996) (“The

  Title 18 U.S.C. §1152 states:8

Except as otherwise expressly provided by law, the general laws of the United States as to the
punishment of offenses committed in any place within the sole and exclusive jurisdiction of the
United States, except the District of Columbia, shall extend to the Indian country.

This section shall not extend to offenses committed by one Indian against the person or property of
another Indian, nor to any Indian committing any offense in the Indian country who has been
punished by the local law of the tribe, or to any case where, by treaty stipulations, the exclusive
jurisdiction over such offenses is or may be secured to the Indian tribes respectively

13
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policy underlying §1955 is that large-scale gambling is dangerous to federal interests wherever it

occurs including on an Indian reservation”).  15 U.S.C. §1175 is also a crime of general application

under the same rationale.  In neither instance do the special federal jurisdictional “hooks” of §1153

and 1152 (second paragraph) apply.

F. The defendants lack standing as individuals to assert treaty rights.

Jock and Square also present several arguments relying on treaty rights.  Doc. 32, Memo of

Law at pages 16, and 20-23.  None of their arguments have any merit because, as individuals, they

can neither rely on treaty rights nor assert sovereign immunity.  

They generally contend that Article II of the Treaty of Canandaigua trumps the application

of state and federal gambling laws against the defendants.  In simple terms, they would say, the “free

use and enjoyment” of the tribal lands promised to the Tribe creates immunity from prosecution for

them.  This argument also implies that traditional aboriginal use of the lands includes gambling

ventures which does not appear documented in their presentation of historical documents.  The

defendants, again, cite no case law. 

As an additional matter, defendants Jock and Square have not even established that they are

members of the Tribe.  It is therefore unclear how they could enforce any rights that the Tribe may

have under any treaty.  In one case, an Indian plaintiff’s disavowed tribal membership was noted by

the court who ruled against her.  In Thompson v. County of Franklin, 314 F.3d 79 (2d Cir. 2002), the court

summarized the Mohawk factions on the Saint Regis Mohawk Reservation and the views of other courts. 

Plaintiff Dana Leigh Thompson of Mohawk heritage sought declaratory judgment relief from Franklin

County taxes on land she owned outside the Saint Regis Mohawk Reservation’s boundaries.  The court there

noted that Thompson had sent a letter to the Saint Regis Mohawk Tribe disavowing her membership in the

14
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Tribe, inter alia, and any rights flowing from Tribal membership.  Justice Van Graafeiland found against

Thompson and that her land was taxable by Franklin County.

Courts within this District have also unanimously rejected the notion that individual tribal

members have standing to sue under or can even raise terms of a treaty.  In Canadian St. Regis Band

of Mohawk Indians v. State of New York, 573 F. Supp. 1530 (N.D.N.Y. 1983), the Honorable Neal

P. McCurn, found that an individual member of an Indian tribe, or even a group of individuals

banding together, clearly lacked standing to assert claims on behalf of himself as well as the tribe

based upon violations of the Indian Nonintercourse Act (INA).  Id. at 1537 & 1538.  This Court has

held similarly in King v. U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration and U.S. Postal Inspection Service,

8:11-CV-281 (DNH/RFT) (Doc. 15) (July 21, 2011 Memorandum-Decision and Order of U.S.

Magistrate Judge Treece, approved by this Court on November 29, 2011).   Moreover, the Saint9

Regis Mohawk Tribal Police led and then partnered with federal investigators in this investigation

which “lends credence that the spirit of the treaty, respect of the Tribe’s sovereignty has occurred.” 

King v. U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration and U.S. Postal Inspection Service, Id., at p. 13.  

The defendants have repeatedly made clear that they neither want nor have authority to

represent the Tribe.  Unless an individual or entity can establish that he or it acts as an arm of the

tribe, his acts are not properly deemed to be those of the Tribe.  Puyallup Tribe, Inc. v. Dept. Game

of State of Washington, 433 U.S. 165, 171 (1977) (“even though individual defendants were

members of the Tribe and therefore entitled to the benefits of the Treaty of Medicine Creek, the

treaty as construed by this Court does not confer the complete individual immunity they claim”). 

Similarly, individual members of a tribe’s attempts to sue the State of New York under the Albany

   Attorney Scott M. Moore, counsel for the complainant.  9
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Treaty of 1664 failed for the same rationale.  Bess v. Spitzer, 459 F. Supp. 2d 191, 199 & 202

(E.D.N.Y. 2006) (citing Puyallup Tribe and further noting that the principle of tribal immunity does

not apply to individual Indians in the same manner and way that it may apply to Indian Tribes);

Smith v. Cuomo, U.S. Dist LEXIS 97105, at *21-22 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 30, 2007) (finding that the

Albany Treaty of 1664 did not bestow any rights upon individual tribal members).  See also

Gristede’s Food, Inc. v. Unkechuage Nation, 660 F. Supp. 2d 442, 477 (E.D.N.Y. 2009) (tribal

sovereignty does not extend to individual members of a tribe) (citing, inter alia, Allen v. Gold

County Casino, 464 F.3d 1044, 1046 (9th Cir. 2006)); Catskill Dev., L.L.C. v. Park Place Entm’t

Corp., 206 F.R.D. 78, 86 (S.D.N.Y. 2002) (citing Puyallup Tribe, 433 U.S. 165, for the legal axiom

that tribal sovereign immunity does not extend to individual members of a tribe). 

G. None of the Defendants’ Other Arguments Have Any Merit.

Finally, Jock and Square ask this Court to reverse Cherokee Nation v. State of Georgia, 30

U.S. 1 (1831) which established the principle that tribes within the United States are “domestic

dependent nations.”  Not only is there no reason for this Court to question this long settled precedent,

but this issue is far removed from the charges in the Indictment.   

They also, in passing, assert that the United States has failed to sign the United Nations

Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous People, or to comply with the Concluding Observations of

the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination, appended to their motion as Docs. 32-9

and 32-13, respectively.  There is absolutely no relationship of these materials to the Indictment.  In

any event, United Nations resolutions and articles, even if joined by the United States, are not

enforceable in federal district court.  See e.g., Sosa v. Alvarez- Machain, 542 U.S. 692, 734

(2004)(cited in Kiobel v. Royal Dutch Petroleum Co., 621 F.3d 111, 131, n.34 (2d Cir. 2010).
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CONCLUSION

For all of these reasons, the Motion to Dismiss the Indictment should be denied.

Richard S. Hartunian
United States Attorney

Dated: February 19, 2013 By: /s/ Elizabeth Horsman                                     
Elizabeth Horsman
Assistant U.S. Attorney
Bar Roll No. 515350

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on February 19, 2013, I electronically filed the foregoing document with

the Clerk of the District Court using the CM/ECF system, which sent notification of such filing to

opposing counsel of record.

/s/ Elizabeth Horsman                 

Elizabeth Horsman
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